1977

## D. Clark Williams v. Merrill L. Oldroyd, Gerald Carter and John A. Canto : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for trespass and to quiet title to certain real property located in Utah County, Utah. The defendants denied any trespass or damage, and counterclaimed to quiet title to said property in defendant Gerald Carter, and to reform various deeds, on the basis of erroneous deed descriptions and prolonged acquiescence in established natural and man-made boundary lines.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried without a jury in the Fourth Judicial District Court, before the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, District Judge. By stipulation in open court, the action was dismissed against defendant Merrill L. Oldroyd. On February 14, 1977, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were made, and judgment was entered against defendants. Defendants then filed a Motion to Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law or,

in the Alternative, for a New Trial. This motion was denied on June 13, 1977. Defendants Gerald Carter and John A. Canto now appeal from the entry of judgment and denial of the motion.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants respectfully ask the Court:

1. To reverse the judgment of the trial court and to enter a judgment quieting title to the disputed property in appellant Gerald Carter.
2. To find that a boundary by acquiescence has been established consisting of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad right-of-way on the north, an existing fence line adjacent to Tie-Fork Creek on the east, U.S. Highway 6 on the south, and the west boundary of a pond on the west.
3. To reform and correct the basic deed and subsequent conveyances in the chain of title to conform with the true intention of the parties at the times of their execution.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The evidence developed in the case shows that on or about May 22, 1954, the plaintiff, in concert with Clifton Huff and Dennis L. Prince, formed a partnership under the name and style of Skyline Enterprises, and on the same date the plaintiff and his then wife, Evelyn J. Williams, conveyed by warranty deed to D. Clark Williams, Clifton Huff, and Dennis L. Prince, a partnership doing business as Skyline Enterprises, a metes and bounds description of a tract of land purporting to comprise 10.74 acres in Section 14, Township 10 South, Range 6 East,

Salt Lake Base and Meridian. (Exhibits "27" and "12") The partnership constructed and operated a motel, service station, and restaurant facility on the property described in said deed, with camping facilities and areas for deer hunters, sportsmen, and travelers extending in and upon the land which is disputed in this action. (Tr., pp. 109, 293)

The deeded description set out in the conveyance of May 22, 1954, is itself erroneous, and, if literally followed, would embrace a large portion of U.S. Highway 6 on the south, and thereby change the northern border consistent therewith. (Tr., pp. 7, 10, 13, 21, 66, 69, 85)

A map of the land in question prepared from a survey by Surveying Associates, Inc., was introduced by defendants and received in evidence as Exhibit "21", which purports to show, within the yellow lines, the possession survey of land claimed by the defendants and, by the blue lines, the deeded tract as adjusted to eliminate the conflict with U.S. Highway 6. That portion of the land bounded in yellow lines and located generally north and east of the blue lines on the plat constitutes the disputed area. The northern part of the yellow line follows an existing fence line and the south side of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad right-of-way, and the eastern end of the yellow line follows a fence along Tie-Fork Creek. The west end of the northern and western yellow line also follows, generally, the west boundary of a pond. The southern boundary line marked in yellow follows the north edge of U.S. Highway 6.

The evidence further shows that subsequent to the



formation of the above-mentioned partnership, two of the parties thereto, including the plaintiff, and Wallace Gardner, as a successor in interest of Dennis L. Prince, formed a corporation under the name and style of Skyview Enterprises, Inc., and transferred the property to that corporation by the same erroneous description by which it was originally conveyed to the partnership by the plaintiff. (Exhibit "8")

Sometime prior to January, 1961, the plaintiff endeavored to interest the defendant, Merrill L. Oldroyd, in the corporation and urged him to purchase the stock of Wallace Gardner. (Tr., pp. 117, 233, 234, 239) In conversations between the plaintiff and the defendant, Merrill L. Oldroyd, on that occasion, the plaintiff represented to the defendant, Oldroyd, that the corporation was the owner of a tract of real property bounded on the north by the right-of-way line of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad; on the east by a fence adjoining Tie-Fork Creek; on the south by U.S. Highway 6; and on the west by a pond, which is the precise description shown on Exhibit "21" bounded in the yellow lines. (Tr., pp. 238-239) In reliance on these representations as to the property owned by the corporation, the defendant, Oldroyd, purchased shares in the corporation and the corporation thereafter occupied, claimed, and utilized all of the land embraced within said boundaries as depicted on Exhibit "21" within the yellow lines, without any objection, dispute, or question on the part of the plaintiff. (Tr., p. 239)

Sometime prior to July 16, 1963, the defendant,

Oldroyd, and his family, became the owners of all of the stock of Skyview Enterprises, Inc., including the stock of the plaintiff. (Tr., pp. 119-120, 239)

On or about July 16, 1963, Skyview Enterprises, Inc., as a corporation, entered into a contract for the sale by that corporation and the purchase by D. Lloyd Horlacher, and Elda Horlacher, of the premises and property theretofore owned and claimed by the corporation. (Exhibit "42") In January of 1966, D. Lloyd Horlacher assigned his interest under said contract to Elda Horlacher.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Horlacher testified that prior to their purchasing the property from Skyview Enterprises, Inc., they also had conversations on the land with the plaintiff, Williams, who was then operating the property for the corporation, at which time they requested that the plaintiff point out the physical boundaries of the land owned by the corporation, whereupon Williams again represented to them, on two separate occasions, that the property was bounded on the north by the right-of-way line of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad; on the east by a fence adjoining Tie-Fork Creek; on the south by U.S. Highway 6; and on the west by a pond, the substantial portion of which description is enclosed by a long-existing fence and is depicted on Exhibit "21" as that land bordered in yellow lines. (Tr., pp. 207, 215, 261)

In his pleadings, plaintiff admitted making the aforesaid representations both to the Horlachers and to Oldroyd. In his reply to the counterclaim of the defendants, under his Third Defense, plaintiff admits that "any statement or commu-

nication made by him relative to any land claimed by the defend-  
ants within Section 14, Township 10 South, Range 6 East, Salt  
Lake Meridian, was true and correct." (Emphasis added.) In  
his Fourth Defense, plaintiff further admits that "any statement  
communication made by him relative to any land claimed by the  
defendants within Section 14, Township 10 South, Range 6 East,  
Salt Lake Meridian, was made in good faith and was made with  
probable cause for believing the truth of any statement or  
communication made." (Emphasis added.)

The Horlachers, while in possession of the property,  
further improved the disputed land by erecting toilets next  
to Tie-Fork Creek on the east, by installing electrical  
outlets on the north, and by cleaning, grading, and seeding  
the disputed area. (Tr., pp. 217-218, 219, 297-298)

Mrs. Horlacher and her son, Gerald Carter, lived and  
worked on the property while it was operated both as a partnership  
and corporation by the plaintiff, from about the years 1954  
to 1956, she as a cook, and he as a part-time service station  
operator. Both were familiar with that property which was occu-  
used and claimed by both the partnership and the corporation,  
which included that land embraced within the yellow lines and  
within the fence lines and railroad and highway rights-of-way  
and the pond, as depicted on Exhibit "21". (Tr., pp. 292-293,  
294)

On or about January 11, 1966, Mrs. Horlacher entered  
into an agreement to sell and assign her contract, dated  
July 16, 1963, with Skyview Enterprises, Inc., to her son.

Gerald Carter and his wife, as assignees and buyers. (Exhibit "36") The defendant, Oldroyd, consented to that agreement and assignment on or about January 21, 1966, as the assignee from Skyview Enterprises, Inc., of the seller's interest under said contract. The defendant, Gerald Carter, and his wife then went into possession and have continued to occupy and claim the property since on or about January 11, 1966. (Tr., pp. 221, 296-297)

The defendant, John A. Canto, testified that in July of 1974, he had a conversation with the plaintiff on the property. The plaintiff wanted to employ Canto to do some work on the plaintiff's property. Canto said that he could not do it until he had finished a job for Carter. When the plaintiff inquired as to how long this would take, Canto described the work as leveling Carter's land to Tie-Fork Creek on the east and the railroad right-of-way on the north. The plaintiff made no mention to Canto of any claim of ownership to that land, nor did he object in any way to his doing the work. In fact, later, while the work was in progress, the plaintiff came by on several occasions while Canto was on the land with his equipment leveling the disputed area, and the plaintiff waved to him, but at no time made any objection to his working on the land. (Tr., pp. 271-274)

Mr. Carter testified that he has consistently occupied, claimed, operated, and used the premises and property bounded on the north by the railroad right-of-way, on the east by a fence adjacent to Tie-Fork Creek, on the south by U.S. Highway

6, and on the west by a pond, which is the same property depicted within the yellow lines on Exhibit "21". He further testified that at no time did he occupy or operate the property under a lease or any other tenancy arrangement with the defendant, Oldroyd, but only as a contract purchaser. (Tr., pp. 298-299, 305-306)

Mr. Carter confirmed the fact that while he was on the property with his mother, Mrs. Horlacher, from about 1954 to about 1956, he observed the use being made of the property by the partnership and corporation, which included the land within the disputed area. (Tr., pp. 293, 294) He testified that from the time he took over the property, he also rented camper spaces throughout the entire disputed area, and had as many as thirty-five (35) campers and trailers in the disputed area, at given times, not counting tents or horse trailers and other vehicles. All of the campers and users of this area, including Dennis L. Prince, who was one of the original partners with the plaintiff when the land was acquired, improved and operated in 1954, did so with Carter's permission, and the permission of his predecessors in interest. (Tr., pp. 297-299)

Mr. Carter further testified that the plaintiff never did contact him nor raise any question with regard to the boundary of the property until sometime in the year 1972. (Tr., p. 301) At that time, there had been a survey made which indicated that the east boundary line of the property in question might extend east of Tie-Fork Creek by approximately 33 feet. When this information was given to the plaintiff

by Mr. Carter, the plaintiff told Mr. Carter that he (the plaintiff) had always understood that the east line of the property was Tie-Fork Creek, and advised Mr. Carter to go to a place across the street north of the courthouse and get some quit-claim deeds, and he would straighten out the description. (Tr., pp. 301-302)

In another conversation between the plaintiff and the defendant, Carter, in about June of 1973, the plaintiff asked Carter if he (Carter) would like him (Williams) to come over and spray some weeds in the now disputed area. (Tr., pp. 303-304) Mr. Carter also testified that he graded, harrowed, and planted part of the disputed area with grass, and has cut and maintained it since about 1966, and always understood the boundaries of the property to be those depicted by the yellow lines on Exhibit "21". (Tr., pp. 304-305)

The first intimation that plaintiff claimed title to the disputed land occurred immediately prior to the commencement by him on September 11, 1974, of his action for alleged trespass by the defendants, praying for general and punitive damages and for injunctive relief. Subsequently, by amended complaint, the plaintiff added to his complaint a prayer that the title to the disputed land be quieted in him. The defendants, by way of answer to the amended complaint, denied that the plaintiff is the owner of the disputed land, and further denied that any trespass had been committed by the defendants or damage sustained by the plaintiff as a result thereof.

By way of affirmative defenses and counterclaim against the plaintiff, the defendants alleged that the property in question was originally conveyed by the plaintiff and his then wife to the predecessors in interest of the defendants, and that the description in said deed and in subsequent deeds of the same property was erroneous and did not conform to the description of the land intended to be conveyed by the parties, and actually occupied and claimed by them. The defendants also prayed for injunctive relief against the plaintiffs; that the title of the defendant, Carter, to the disputed property be quieted in him on the basis of the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence; and that the original deed from the plaintiff be reformed and corrected to accurately describe the land intended to be conveyed by the plaintiff and received by the predecessors in interest of the defendants; and for general damages, including damage for slander of title and punitive damages.

Immediately after the commencement of the trial, the defendant, Gerald Carter, was stricken by illness and hospitalized. The case proceeded without him, and the evidence and testimony on behalf of the plaintiff was taken and received, and all evidence on behalf of the defendants was also taken and received, except for the testimony of the defendant, Gerald Carter, which was reserved and the trial continued pending his recovery.

On December 15, 1976, trial was reconvened for the purpose of receiving the testimony of defendant,

Gerald Carter. Following his testimony, upon stipulation in open court, the action was dismissed against defendant, Oldroyd. Defendants Carter and Canto now appeal from the entry of the adverse judgment and ruling in this case.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO REFUSE TO REFORM THE DEED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES.

In its memorandum decision of January 27, 1977, the trial court declared that it did not find "sufficient facts to order reformation of the deed, exhibit 12." The court erred in this finding for the following reasons:

First, the deed description itself is erroneous. If literally followed, it includes a substantial portion of U.S. Highway 6 within its boundaries, and extends beyond to the south side of the highway. (Tr., pp. 7, 10, 13, 21, 66, 69, 85) The court was perplexed by this and asked Mr. Neeley, a registered land surveyor, the following question:

Q. (By the court) I can understand, Mr. Neeley, the two different surveyors taking the 1560 foot by 300 foot rectangle and not coming out in the same place. But do you have any explanation as to how they both come out in the middle of the state highway? Do you have an explanation at all? (Tr., p. 85, line 10)

Mr. Neeley succinctly replied,

A. Faulty descriptions is all I can say, Judge. (Tr., p. 85, line 16)

Although the deed description, "along the state road", is presumed to carry title to the center of the



highway, (See Hummel v. Young, 1 Utah 2d 237, 265 P. 2d 410 (1953); Annot., 2 A.L.R. 6 (1919), supp., Annot., 49 A.L.R. 2d 982 (1956)), the parties clearly did not intend to convey property on the opposite side of the highway, to which they held no title. By shifting the deed description northward to border along the north edge of the highway, the trial court, in effect, already has reformed the deed which it said it would not reform. Thus, the claim that the deed cannot be reformed is nonsense, since it must be reformed from the original description, in order to border along the edge of the highway.

Second, the trial court also cited the Restatement of Contracts § 504 (1932), which states:

Except as stated in §§ 506 and 509-511, where both parties have an identical intention as to the terms to be embodied in a proposed written conveyance, assignment, contract or discharge, and a writing executed by them is materially at variance with that intention, either party can get a decree that the writing shall be reformed so that it shall express the intention of the parties, if innocent third persons will not be unfairly affected thereby.

It is clear from the record that both parties were mutually mistaken with respect to the faulty deed description. After the conveyance from the plaintiff to himself and his partners doing business as Skyline Enterprises, on or about May 22, 1954, the partnership operated and occupied a tract of land bounded on the north by the right-of-way line of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad; on the east by a fence adjoining Tie-Fork Creek; on the south by U.S. Highway 6; and on the west by a pond, which is

the land circumscribed by the yellow line on Exhibit "21". This fact alone confirms that it was the intention of the plaintiff to convey that property within the yellow lines on Exhibit "21" when he executed the warranty deed of May 22, 1954.

This intention on the part of the grantors and grantees in said deed is bolstered by the further evidence in the record that when the plaintiff attempted to interest the defendant, Oldroyd, in coming into the corporation in the latter part of 1960 or the early part of 1961, he responded to the question of the defendant, Oldroyd, as to what property was owned by the corporation, by pointing out the physical boundaries thereof on the ground and describing the tract as bounded on the north by the right-of-way line of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad; on the east by a fence adjoining Tie-Fork Creek; on the south by U.S. Highway 6; and on the west by a pond, and it was manifestly the understanding of the defendant, Oldroyd, when he bought into the corporation, that the corporation owned that property. (Tr., pp. 238-239)

The evidence further shows that the same representations were made by the plaintiff to Mr. & Mrs. Horlacher, the predecessors in interest of the defendant, Carter, prior to the time when they purchased the property from Skyview Enterprises, Inc., in July of 1963 (Tr., pp. 207, 215, 261), and both Oldroyd and the Horlachers relied upon those representations in purchasing, respectively, their interests in the

corporation and the property thereof.

Most importantly, in his reply to the counter-claim of the defendants, under his Third and Fourth Defenses, the plaintiff admitted that the representations made by him to Oldroyd and the Horlachers as to the physical boundaries of the property were true and correct, and were made in good faith with probable cause for believing them to be true. Thus, the reality of these representations, the reliance of the parties thereon, and the intention of the parties in contracting with respect to the property cannot be denied. A mutual mistake in the deeded description is clearly shown.

It should be noted, further, that in asking for reformation of the deed, the defendants are asking only that the deed be reformed to conform to the boundary descriptions of the property intended by the parties, and are not asking for more, but, in fact, less land than is conveyed by the deed. However, even if they were asking for more land, this would not be a sufficient basis for denying the application to reform. See Roberts v. Hummel, 69 Nev. 154 243 P. 2d 248 (1952).

This Court, in Mawhinney v. Jensen, 120 Utah 142, 232 P. 2d 769 (1951), has said that before any instrument can be reformed, it is necessary that there be pre-existing terms on which the minds of the parties have agreed. Because the parties clearly intended that the property be bounded by the natural and man-made boundary lines, as previously discussed, said requirement is fully satisfied.

this case.

In McMahon v. Tanner, 122 Utah 333, 249 P. 2d 502 (1952), the Court had before it an application to reform an instrument and there held that, although unknown to one of the parties, an instrument contains a mistake rendering it at variance with the prior agreement of the parties, and the other party seeks to take advantage of that mistake, equity will reform the instrument so as to make it conform to the agreement of the parties.

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