1977

D. Clark Williams v. Merrill L. Oldroyd, Gerald Carter and John A. Canto : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

and had received permission to camp on the disputed property. Was the permission granted by Williams on behalf of Skyline, or by Williams as Skyline's neighbor and the property's sole owner? The record is inconclusive.

A more significant gap in the record is the absence of any of the original grantees, other than Williams, as witnesses at trial. If appellants were truly serious about seeking reformation on the basis of a pre-existing agreement, why did they fail to call Clifton Huff as a witness (Dennis Price being deceased)? After all, the issue in reformation proceedings is what the parties to the instrument mutually intended, not what subsequent takers may speculate years after the fact. The trial court was bound to look at the transaction as of the time of execution, 66 Am. Jur. Reformation of Instruments, § 5 (1973); without any evidence relating to that point in time, the court could hardly be expected to reform the deed on the basis of vague inference and self-serving reconstructions.

Moreover, appellants' attempt to reconstruct an inference of pre-existing agreement and mutual mistake is dependent upon findings that Skyline Enterprises actually did make the alleged boundary representations. In fact, however, each of those allegations was vehemently denied by Williams at trial (Tr. 113, 119, 121-22), and his denial was bolstered by appellant Carter's admission (Tr. 309, 310) that on at least two occasions, he attempted to buy the

disputed property from Williams.

Apparently, Judge Sorensen chose to believe respondent rather than appellants, as is shown by his Memorandum Decision and by the court's Findings of Fact entered on February 14, 1977, which stated, at paragraph 5:

There is no evidence to support a finding that plaintiff and the partnership, dba Skyline Enterprises, intended any boundary between their lands other than [the deed boundary as corrected by survey], nor is there sufficient evidence to support a finding that Skyline Enterprises occupied, possessed or claimed any of the lands lying north or east of said boundary.

The above finding is exactly contrary to the facts selected by appellants, and appellants must rebut that finding in order to obtain a reversal on appeal. Their position in this respect is identical to that of the appellants in First Western Fidelity v. Gibbons and Reed Co., 27 Utah 2d 1, 492 P.2d 132 (1971), in which the court stated, 492 P.2d at 133:

Where the appellant's position is that the trial court erred in refusing to make certain findings essential to its right to recover, and insists that the evidence compels such findings, it is obliged to show that there is credible and uncontradicted evidence which proves those contended facts with such certainty that all reasonable minds must so find. Conversely, if there is any reasonable basis, either in the evidence or from the lack of evidence upon which reasonable minds might conclude that they are not so convinced by a preponderance of the evidence, then the findings should not be overturned [Emphasis added].

Not one of appellants' asserted facts is undisputed in the record; to the contrary, it is evident that Judge Sorensen had a reasonable basis in evidence for his finding that there was no pre-existing boundary agreement at variance with the original deed.

Finally, even if this court were to accept appellants' view of the facts respecting boundary representations and occupation of the disputed area, appellants should nonetheless be denied reformation because Oldroyd, the Horlachers and Carter were all inexcusably negligent in taking their respective property interests without questioning the obvious discrepancy between the alleged representations and the deed descriptions. A glance at any of the instruments sought to be reformed reveals that the property is a perfect rectangle 1,560 feet long and 300 feet deep bordering on the highway--not the irregularly-shaped chunk which appellants claim was represented to be their property by Williams. Nonetheless Oldroyd took a deed from Skyview Enterprises, Inc., bearing the identical description as the initial deed; Oldroyd entered into a real estate contract with the Horlachers for the same described property; and the Horlachers assigned their interest to Carter using the same description--and not one of these people ever bothered to read the instrument he took (Tr. 226, 242, 255), to discuss the matter seriously with Williams, to commission a survey, or even to pace off the deed footages.

Under Utah law, the issue of inexcusable negligence as a defence to reformation is a question of fact to be decided on a case-by-case basis. Petersen v. Eldredge, 122 Utah 96, 246 P.2d 866 (1952). As a general rule, however, a finding of inexcusable neglect requires (1) breach of legal duty by the party seeking reformation, (2) causing prejudice to the other party. McMahon v. Tanner, 122 Utah 333, 249 P.2d 502 (1952); see generally Annot., 81 A.L.R. 2d 7, 31-32 (1962). It is evident that Dr. Oldroyd's failure to correct the alleged descriptive error when he contracted with the Horlachers was a breach of his duty to convey clear title. Furthermore, Williams has been prejudiced by the breach of duty in that it ultimately resulted in the trespass which impelled this lawsuit.

The conduct of Oldroyd, the Horlachers and Carter with respect to the conveyances in question suggests only two possible conclusions: either they were inexcusably negligent in taking erroneous instruments, or they received exactly what they paid for. In either case, the trial court's decision should be affirmed and reformation denied.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO QUIET TITLE
TO THE DISPUTED PROPERTY IN APPELLANTS ON THE
BASIS OF ACQUISITION BY ACQUIESCENCE

It has been long recognized in Utah that when the true boundary between adjoining tracts of land is unknown, uncertain or in dispute, the respective owners may by parol

agreement establish the boundary line and thereby irrevocably bind themselves and their grantees. See, e.g., Brown v. Milliner, 120 Utah 2d 16, 232 P.2d 202 (1951). Appellants claim that Williams' alleged boundary representations to Oldroyd and the Horlachers constituted such a parol agreement, thereby establishing the claimed boundary.

Of course, as recently reaffirmed by this court in Hobson v. Panguitch Lake Corporation, 530 P.2d 792 (Utah 1975), where the existence of such a boundary agreement is in dispute, a boundary may not be established solely on the basis of an oral agreement, as such an agreement may violate the Statute of Frauds. See also Strickley v. Hill, 22 Utah 257, 62 P. 893 (1900).

Instead, the court has endorsed the common law doctrine of boundary by acquiescence, whereby boundary disputes are resolved through an orderly system of presumptions. The initial burden of proof lies with the party claiming boundary by acquiescence, who must prove four elements in order to raise a presumption that a boundary agreement exists. These elements are: (1) occupation up to a visible line marked definitely by monuments, fences or buildings, (2) acquiescence in the line as a boundary, (3) for a long period of years (4) by adjoining land owners. Fuoco v. Williams, 15 Utah 156, 389 P.2d 143 (1964). If the claimant can thus establish the presumption of an agreement, the burden shifts to the other party to rebut the presumption by competent evi-

dence. However, as emphasized by the court in Fuoco v. Williams, supra,

. . . if the party claiming title by acquiescence fails to carry his burden and raise the presumption, then there is no case at all. 389 P.2d at 145.

The court must first, then, analyze each of appellants' arguments in the light of the foregoing four elements.

First, appellants insist that beginning in May 1954, Skyline Enterprises and later Skyview Enterprises, Inc., occupied the disputed area up to the claimed boundary. However, as outlined in Point I of this brief, Williams (who was a member of the Skyline Enterprises partnership) denied such occupation; and this court is bound to view disputed facts in a light favorable to him, giving deference to Judge Sorensen's Memorandum Decision, wherein he did not find "sufficient believable facts to establish a boundary by acquiescence [sic]. . . ." Moreover, the record is devoid of evidence that Skyline Enterprises, rather than Williams as Skyline's neighbor, occupied the property. Absent evidence of occupation by Skyline and Skyview while respondent had an interest in those entities, occupation of the disputed area by appellant Carter's predecessors in interest could not have begun earlier than 1963, when Williams left the property.

Furthermore, the requisite occupation must border on a visible line marked definitely by monuments, fences or

buildings. Appellants claim that a fence along Tie Fork Creek operated as such a visible line (Appellants' Brief, 24). The record clearly illustrates, however, that the fence was used to hold cattle and horses, rather than to fix a boundary (Tr. 97, 1977). Use of the fence for livestock control continued throughout the time that Williams' brother and expert witness, Grant Williams, was on the property (Tr. 176), a period extending from 1954 through 1967 (Tr. 166-167). As emphasized in appellants' main case for the point, Baum v. Defa, 525 P.2d 725, 727 (Utah 1974), the period of time that a fence exists for livestock control purposes ". . . will not constitute part of the 'long period of time' requisite to establish a boundary by acquiescence. Accordingly, the alleged occupation, if any, did not begin until at least 1967.

Second, appellants fail to show the requisite acquiescence by respondent. Williams testified that he was unaware of an encroachment by the Horlachers or Carter before 1970, as he had left the property when the Horlachers took possession in 1963 (Tr. 122). Without knowledge, he could not acquiesce. Immediately upon returning, he told Carter that Carter was trespassing by placing trailer hookups in the area now in dispute (Tr. 124). Later, when Canto parked his caterpillar in the area before grading the property, Williams told him that he was camped on Williams' land (Tr. 129). These facts negate any allegation of acquiescence.

Finally, appellants have failed to show acquiescence in the line as a boundary for the required period of years. Acquiescence, if any, began no earlier than 1963 (when Skyview Enterprises, Inc. conveyed the property to the Horlachers) and ended when Williams commenced this action, a total of 11 years. In a lengthy discussion of the period of time required under boundary by acquiescence, this court, in King v. Fronk, 14 Utah 2d 135, 378 P.2d 893 (1963), pointed out that as a general rule, the prescriptive period of twenty years is the appropriate yardstick. The court could find only two decisions [one of which, Eckberg v. Bates, 121 Utah 123, 239 P.2d 205 (1951), is heavily relied upon by appellants] which had allowed a period of less than twenty years to perfect title by acquiescence. In both, the circumstances indicated an ancient boundary obviously existing for a period in excess of the prescriptive period. The court concluded as follows:

Boiled down, it seems to us that establishment of boundary by acquiescence may be predicated upon the existence of a visibly monumented line persisting for at least twenty years or upwards, shown specially or circumstantially, in order to meet or exceed the requirements of acquiring rights by prescription.

. . . The parade of cases to date calls on equity to flex its muscles only to pull the period below twenty years in the rarest of cases involving the doctrine of boundary by acquiescence. 378 P.2d at 897.

The circumstances of the instant case, including the absence of any ancient boundary, clearly do not justify

shortening the acquiescence period to infer an agreement which never, in fact, existed.

However, even if this court were to find that appellants have presented sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that a binding agreement existed, Williams' evidence provides a compelling rebuttal. Between the time that he conveyed his property to Skyline Enterprises and the time he commenced this action, Williams paid all taxes on the disputed property (Tr. 51), granted a pole line easement over the disputed property to Utah Power & Light Company (plaintiff's Exhibit 44), excluded both the Skyline property and the disputed property, separately, in a conveyance of other lands to the Spanish Fork Livestock Association (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1), parked in the disputed area (Tr. 149), held a family reunion there (Tr. 97), planted the area (Tr. 149), and obtained a permit to clear an existing well on the property (Plaintiff's Exhibit 20). Plainly, Williams never acted in keeping with the alleged "agreement." Neither, it appears, did appellant Carter, who admitted that he attempted to buy the disputed property from Williams on at least two occasions (Tr. 309, 315). The irresistible conclusion is that the attempt to prove boundary by acquiescence is merely a recently-fabricated smoke screen for a naked trespass.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF DAMAGES TO RESPONDENT
WAS PROPER UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES

The trial court awarded damages to Williams in the sum of \$6,690.00, on the basis that appellants' trespass had reduced the fair market value of the land from \$6,000.00 per acre to \$3,000.00 per acre. Williams' evidence of damages at trial included his own estimate, as landowner, of the property's value (Tr. 202); evidence of market value by Esbern Baadsgaard, a licensed real estate broker (Tr. 180-87); evidence of soil, plant and stream destruction by Grant Williams, a forestry and land resources expert (Tr. 147-65); and evidence of topsoil replacement cost by Alfred Johnson, a topsoil hauler (Tr. 58-59). By contrast, appellants offered only the testimony of appellant Canto, a cat-skinner, whose "professional opinion" (Appellants' Brief, 30) was that there was no difference in soil condition before and after grading. Absent any significant rebuttal testimony, the trial court was bound to award damages on the basis of the only evidence offered, viz., that of respondent Williams.

Appellants attack the court's damage award on three bases. First, they argue that Williams' testimony, that the property was worth \$6,000.00 per acre before the trespass and half that afterwards (Tr. 202), was improperly admitted, as it was unsupported by evidence of property values or surrounding circumstances. It should be noted

that Williams' testimony was received without objection,* therefore, its admission, even if erroneous, would not constitute grounds for reversal. Rule 4, Utah Rules of Evidence (1971). However, the admission of Williams' testimony was patently proper. This court was repeatedly stated that

. . . an owner of property is always entitled to testify as to its value, and to express an opinion as to its value in condemnation proceedings. An owner does not have to qualify as an expert, nor be engaged in buying and selling real estate.

Provo River Water Users Ass'n. v. Carlson, 103 Utah 93, 133

*The transcript reads as follows:

Q. [by Mr. Fowler] Do you have an opinion, Mr. Clark [sic] as to the value of the disputed property prior to the grading?

A. Yes, it would be around --

MR. NELSON: Just a minute. I object on the ground that no sufficient foundation has been laid.

MR. FOWLER: It's been established, Your Honor --

THE COURT: Just a minute. He may answer. I think under the law of this state the owner of property can always testify to its value. I don't think it's a good rule of law, Mr. Fowler, but I think it is the law. Do you agree it is the law?

MR. NELSON: I am not certain, Your Honor, but will demur to your ruling (Tr. 202)

The record thus indicates that the initial objection was withdrawn and not raised again, nor did appellants' counsel move to strike the witness' answer.

P.2d 777, 782 (1943); see also Utah State Road Comm. v. Johnson, 550 P.2d 216, 217 (Utah 1976). That the instant case is not a condemnation case is irrelevant, as the court in either instance is attempting to arrive at a basis for awarding damages.

The above general rule has been limited somewhat by the holdings in Utah State Road Comm. v. Johnson, supra, and Utah State Road Comm. v. Steele Ranch, 533 P.2d 888 (Utah 1975), which ruled that a landowner's testimony lacks probative value if he is not particularly familiar with the property (e.g., if he has come into ownership of property by inheritance and has no realistic idea of its value). The limitations of these cases, however, are no impediment to admissibility in the instant case. Williams was raised on the property (Tr. 44), established a business adjacent to it (Tr. 109), and was intimately familiar with common uses of the property and how those uses (primarily recreation) were affected by the trespass (Tr. 106-106). His testimony thus carries great probative weight, and the court's award, based thereon, should not be disturbed.*

Appellants next contend (Appellants' Brief, 28-29)

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